# PROCEEDINGS OF THE TERREBONNE PARISH SCHOOL BOARD

#### OCTOBER 15, 2013

The Terrebonne Parish School Board met today at 7:00 P.M. in regular session at its regular meeting place, the Terrebonne Parish School Board Office, 201 Stadium Drive, Houma, Louisiana, with Mr. Roger Dale DeHart, President, presiding, and the following members present: Mr. Richard Jackson, Vice-President, Mr. Roosevelt Thomas, Mr. Gregory Harding, Ms. Debi Benoit, Dr. Brenda Leroux Babin, Mr. L. P. Bordelon, III, Mr. Donald Duplantis, and Mr. Hayes J. Badeaux.

ABSENT: None

Mr. Jackson led the Board and audience in the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

A moment of silence was observed in memory of Janice Brouillette, Martha Ratliff, Priscilla Freeman, and Lucille Hammond, retired school teachers, and Gregory Songe, 11<sup>th</sup> grade student at Ellender Memorial High School, who recently passed away.

Motion of Mr. Badeaux, seconded by Mr. Jackson, unanimously carried, the Board approved the minutes of School Board Meeting of October 1, 2013, as recorded.

The Board recognized and presented plaques to the following 2013-2014 Terrebonne Parish Principals' of the Year:

Elementary School Principal of the Year – Peggy Marcel, Schriever Elementary School

Middle School Principal of the Year – Kim Vauclin, Montegut Middle School

High School Principal of the Year – Graham Douglas, Terrebonne High School

The Board then recognized and presented plaques to the following 2013-2014 Terrebonne Parish Teachers' of the Year:

Elementary Teacher of the Year and State Finalist for Louisiana Teacher of the Year – Jenny Trahan, Oakshire Elementary School

Middle School Teacher of the Year – Jessica Martin, Caldwell Middle School

High School Teacher of the Year – Leah Gaudet, Ellender Memorial High School

The following report of the Education and Policy Committee meeting was presented to the Board with Mr. Jackson, Chairman, presiding:

Dear Members of the Board:

**The EDUCATION and POLICY COMMITTEE** met in the Board Room of the School Board Office, 201 Stadium Drive, at 5:00 P.M., on Monday, October 7, 2013, with the following members present: Mr. Richard Jackson,

Chairman, Mr. Donald Duplantis, Vice-Chairman, and Dr. Brenda Leroux Babin. Also in attendance were Mr. L. P. Bordelon, III, Superintendent Philip Martin and members of the staff.

Mr. Jackson called the meeting to order. The meeting began with the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

Superintendent Martin presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: B-3 School Board Member Continuing Education.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 1**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: B-3 School Board Member Continuing Education:

FILE: B-3 Cf: A-5.2

## **SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER CONTINUING EDUCATION**

## SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER TRAINING

Each Terrebonne Parish School Board Member shall be required to receive a minimum of six (6) hours of training and instruction annually. Training and instruction shall address such topics as the school laws of this state **Louisiana**, laws governing the powers, duties and responsibilities of school boards, the Open Meetings law, the Ethics laws, the Public Bid laws, and in educational trends, research, and policy. Training and instruction shall also include education policy issues, such as the minimum foundation program and formula, leadership development, dropout prevention, and school discipline, and harassment, intimidation, and bullying. In a school district with a school(s) identified as academically unacceptable or in need of academic assistance, at least two (2) of the required hours shall focus on the improvement of schools identified as failing schools.

Training and instruction may be received from a post-secondary education institution in this state Louisiana, from instruction sponsored by the Louisiana Department of Education, from an in-service training program conducted by a school board central office or the Louisiana School Boards Association (LSBA), provided that the instruction and method for demonstrating attendance has been pre-approved by the LSBA, or training and instruction received at any conference presented by the National School Boards Association of attendance by the School Board members at any such training is obtained. Each School Board's Member's attendance shall be reported by the instructor to the LSBA.

#### DISTINGUISHED SCHOOL BOARD MEMBER

A School Board Member who has received a certificate of completion for a minimum of sixteen (16) hours of training and instruction during his/her first year of service on the School Board and has also received an annual certificate of completion of the required training for the subsequent three (3) consecutive years shall receive the designation of Distinguished School Board Member.

VERIFICATION AND DISCLOSURE OF TRAINING

The Superintendent shall be responsible for verifying that any of the training or instruction received by the School Board Member meets statutory requirements. The provider of any School Board Member training and instruction shall issue a certificate of completion annually to those members who complete the required instruction. A copy of the certificate shall be entered into the minutes of the School Board.

At least annually, the Superintendent shall transmit to the School Board's official journal a press release detailing the training and instruction received by each School Board Member, as well as information on each School Board Member who has been designated a *Distinguished School Board Member*.

## ETHICS EDUCATION AND TRAINING

In addition, each School Board Member is required to receive a minimum of one (1) hour of education and training on the Louisiana Code of Governmental Ethics during each year of his/her office. All newly elected School Board Members shall receive the required one (1) hour of education training within the first ninety (90) days after taking the oath of office. This required ethics educational training is separate and apart from the six (6) hours of the annual continuing education requirements stated above.

## Campaign Finance Disclosure Training

In addition to ethics training, a School Board Member shall be required to receive a minimum of one (1) hour of education and training on the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act during his/her term of office.

Revised: August 1998 Revised: March 2009 Revised: February 2011 Revised: July 2013 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:53, 42:1170; Board minutes, 8-18-98, 3-17-09, 2-15-11, 7-16-13.

Mrs. Carol Davis, Assistant Superintendent, updated the Committee on the implementation of Common Core State Standards (CCSS) in grades K-12 in English language arts (ELA) and math (see attached). She said the standards are a state-led initiative and answered questions regarding the alignment of new assessments. Mrs. Davis summarized by presenting a 3-minute descriptive video on CCSS.

Mrs. Rebecca Breaux, Supervisor of Finance and Statistics, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: D-3.3 Tax and Bond Elections and Sales.

#### **RECOMMENDATION NO. 2**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: D-3.3 Tax and Bond Elections and Sales:

FILE: D-3.3 Cf: D-3.1

# TAX AND BOND ELECTIONS AND SALES

## TAX AND BOND ELECTIONS

The School Board shall call elections for the public to vote on tax or bond revenue issues. Every bond, tax, or other election at which a proposition or question is to be submitted to the voters shall be held only on one of the dates set forth by state law or upon proper application to and approval of the State Bond Commission on a date not provided by statute. The proposition placed on the ballot submitted to the voters in any bond election shall state the kinds and sources of revenues which shall be pledged to retire the bonds, should the proposition be successful.

Public notice of the date, time, and place of any meeting at which the School Board intends to levy, increase, renew, or continue any ad valorem property tax or sales and use tax or authorize the calling of an election for submittal of such question to the voters shall be both published in the official journal of the School Board no more than sixty (60) days nor less than thirty (30) days before such public meeting and shall be announced to the public during the course of a public meeting no more than sixty (60) days nor less than thirty (30) days before such public meeting.

If such a meeting is postponed or cancelled, notice of any subsequent meeting to consider taking action regarding property or sales taxes shall be published in the School Board's official journal no less than ten (10) days before the subsequent meeting.

If consideration of or action upon the tax proposal is postponed, or if no action was taken regarding the tax proposal, then notice of any subsequent meeting to consider the tax proposal shall be published no less than ten (10) days before the subsequent meeting, unless the date, time, and place of the subsequent meeting was announced to the public during the meeting.

On the date and at the hour and place specified in the notice of election, the Board, in public session, shall examine and canvass the returns and declare the result of the elections. The result shall be promulgated by one publication in the official journal of the Board.

#### SALE OF BONDS

If approved by the electorate, the Board shall adopt a resolution providing for the issuance of school bonds within a particular bonding district. Said issuance of bonds shall prescribe the form and fix the maturities thereof, and provide for the payment of said bonds in principal and interest.

All bonds shall be advertised for sale on sealed bids, which advertisement shall be published at least once a week for three (3) weeks, the first publication to be made at least fifteen (15) days preceding the date fixed for the reception of bids. Advertisement shall be in the official journal of the governing authority at least fifteen (15) days before the date fixed for the reception of bids. Notice of sale shall also be published once a week for three (3) weeks preceding the date fixed for the reception of bids, either in a financial paper published in the city of New York or the city of Chicago, or in a newspaper of general circulation published in a city of the state of Louisiana having a population of not less than twenty thousand inhabitants, according to the last federal census.

The School Board may reject any and all bids. If the bonds are not sold

pursuant to the advertisement, they may be sold by the School Board by private sale, within sixty (60) days after the date advertised for the reception of sealed bids, but no private sale shall be made at a price less than the highest bid which shall have been received. If not sold, the bonds shall be re-advertised in the manner prescribed above.

Revised: July 1998 Revised: August 2011 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: Constitution of Louisiana, Art. VI, Sec. 30, Sec. 33; La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§18:1281, 18:1282, 18:1283, 18:1284, 18:1285, 18:1286, 18:1293, 39:570, 39:1421, 39:1422, 39:1423, 39:1424, 39:1424.1, 39:1425, 39:1426, 39:1427, 39:1428, 39:1429, **42:19.1**; Board minutes, 7-21-98, 8-16-11.

Mr. William Simmons, Sr., Interim Supervisor of Child Welfare and Attendance, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: E-1.1b Emergency/Crisis Management.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 3**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: E-1.1b Emergency/Crisis Management:

FILE: E-1.1b

# EMERGENCY/CRISIS MANAGEMENT DRILLS

#### FIRE DRILL

- 1. A fire drill shall be held in each school at least once each month and preferably more often during the winter months.
- 2. Method
  - a. Although speed is a requirement of a successful fire drill, order should not be sacrificed for speed.
  - b. The principals shall furnish specific instructions to employees and pupils as to route and manner of exit during fire drill. Alternate routes shall be given and different exits be blocked during drills from time to time. These instructions shall be posted on the bulletin board of each classroom, and in areas where this information will be available to all employees.
  - c. Teachers should carry the grade records with them in order that the school would have evidence of grades, etc., in case of fire.
- 3. The principal shall keep on file a record of the days and time of day on which fire drills were held in the school and must submit a fire drill report to the Superintendent at the end of each semester.

#### **CRISIS MANAGEMENT AND RESPONSE**

Unanticipated tragic events can quickly escalate into a school-wide catastrophe if not dealt with immediately and effectively. School personnel shall plan in advance for the welfare, safety, and care of students and staff members. Every school shall be required to have a <u>Crisis Management and Response Plan. A Crisis Management and</u> <u>Response Plan</u> means a plan to address school safety and the incidence of a shooting or other violence at schools, on school buses, and at schoolrelated activities; to respond effectively to such incidents; and to ensure that every student, teacher, and school employee has access to a safe, secure, and orderly school that is conducive to learning. Such plans shall also address the management of any other emergency situation.

The Crisis Management and Response Plan shall be prepared by each public school principal jointly with local law enforcement, fire, public safety, and emergency preparedness officials. In preparing the plan, the principal and such officials shall consider and include, if appropriate, input from students enrolled in the school and their parents, teachers at the school, other school employees, and community leaders. The plan, which shall focus on preventing the loss of life and the injury of students and teachers and other school employees, shall detail the roles and responsibilities of each school employee and the relevant coordination agreements, services, and security measures of a school in the event of a shooting or other violent incident or emergency situation. The plan may also provide for the counseling of students by mental health professionals, encouraging peer helper programs, and identifying students who may have experienced rejection or other traumatic life events.

Each principal, jointly with local law enforcement, fire, public safety, school resource officers, and emergency preparedness officials, shall review the plan at least once annually and shall revise the plan as necessary. In reviewing and revising the plan, the principal and such officials shall consider and include input, if appropriate, from students enrolled in the school and their parents, teachers at the school, other school employees, and community leaders. Each principal shall submit such plan, in writing, to the Superintendent for approval at least once annually, including upon each revision.

The Superintendent shall make an annual report to the School Board on the status of the plan of each school under the School Board's jurisdiction.

Within the first thirty (30) days of each school year, each principal shall conduct a safety drill to rehearse the components of the <u>Crisis</u> Management and Response Plan. Not later than seven (7) days after the drill, the principal shall submit a written report summarizing the details of the drill to the Superintendent.

Each principal shall notify all teachers and other school employees regarding any revisions made to the plan. The principal shall keep documentation of all emergency/fire/crisis drills, including date and time of each drill, for two (2) years.

#### **OTHER EMERGENCY DRILLS**

The Terrebonne Parish School Board shall require special drill activities be planned by the principal and faculty of each school to assure orderly movement and evacuation of students to the safest area in the event of fire, weather, or other disasters.

<u>Practice emergency drills, such as fire and disaster drills, shall be</u> <u>conducted monthly in each school, with two (2) practice emergency drills</u> <u>conducted the first two (2) weeks of school.</u> Each school of the school <u>district shall hold one (1) bus emergency evacuation drill during the first</u> <u>six (6) weeks of each school semester.</u> Every separate administration building shall conduct at least two (2) emergency drills each fiscal year.

New: December 2004 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: <u>La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:416.16, 40:1578.6;</u> Louisiana Handbook for School Administrators, Bulletin 741, <u>Louisiana School Transportation</u> <u>Specifications and Procedures, Bulletin 119</u>, Louisiana Department of Education; <u>Life Safety Code, National Fire Protection Association</u>; Board minutes, 12-21-04.

Mr. Donald Chamberlain, Plant Operations Manager, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: E-1.2 Buildings and Grounds Security.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 4**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: E-1.2 Buildings and Grounds Security:

FILE: E-1.2 Cf: E-1.2b, E-1.2c Cf: E-1.6, H-3.2, H-3.3

# BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS SECURITY

It is the policy of the Terrebonne Parish School Board that a concerted effort be made at all times by the Board and all personnel to provide for the security and protection of its students, employees, visitors, facilities, and equipment.

Security not only encompasses maintenance of secure (locked) buildings but other strategies to make the school environment safe, such as protection from fire hazards and faulty equipment and safe practices in the use of electrical, plumbing, and heating equipment, and the protection of students, staff, and visitors at school functions, whether on or off campus.

Access to school buildings and grounds outside of regular school hours shall be limited to personnel whose work requires it.

Records and funds shall be kept in a safe place and under lock and key, when required.

Security devices that violate the Louisiana State Fire Marshal laws, rules and/or regulations, may not be added to buildings. However, security devices such as alarm systems and fences designed to be used as safeguards against illegal entry and vandalism may be installed, when appropriate, to individual situations.

# FIREARM FREE ZONES

The areas surrounding the school campus or within 1,000 feet of any such school campus, or within a school bus, shall be designated *Firearm Free Zones*. It is unlawful for a student or non-student to intentionally possess a firearm on school property or within 1,000 feet of school property or while on a school bus, with limited exception, as enumerated in La. Rev. Stat.

**Ann. §14:95.2.** The School Board, in cooperation with local governmental agencies and the Louisiana Department of Education, shall designate and mark *Firearm Free Zones* which surround all schools and school property.

## BODY ARMOR

It shall be unlawful and against School Board policy for any student or non-student to wear or possess on his/her person, at any time, body armor on any School Board property, school campus, at a school-sponsored function, on a school bus or other school transportation, or in a *Firearm Free Zone*, with limited exception as enumerated in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:95.9. School-sponsored functions shall include, but not be limited to, athletic competitions, dances, parties, or any extracurricular activities. A *Firearm Free Zone* means any area within 1,000 feet of any school campus and within a school bus.

Body armor shall mean bullet-resistant metal or other material intended to provide protection from weapons or bodily injury.

The School Board shall post permanent notices of such prohibition at each major point of entry to the school.

## DRUG FREE ZONES

The area within 2,000 feet of any property used for school purposes by any school, or on a school bus, shall be designated as *Drug Free Zones*. It is unlawful for anyone to use, distribute, be under the influence of, manufacture or possess any controlled substances as defined by statute in a *Drug Free Zone*. The Terrebonne Parish School Board, in cooperation with local governmental agencies, and the Louisiana Department of Education, shall designate and mark *Drug Free Zones* which surround all schools and school property.

# ELECTRONIC TELECOMMUNICATION DEVICES

Except as may be allowed by School Board policy, no person, unless authorized by the school principal or designee, shall use, possess, or operate any electronic telecommunication device including any facsimile system, radio paging service, mobile telephone service (including but not limited to texting), intercom, or electromechanical paging system in any elementary or secondary school building, or on the grounds thereof while school is in session or in any school bus.

#### SEARCH OF PERSONS OTHER THAN STUDENTS

Any school principal, administrator, teacher, or school security guards may search the person, book bag, briefcase, purse or other object in the possession of any person who is not a student enrolled in the school, or any school employee, while in or on school grounds. This search may be done randomly with a metal detector, or physically when there is reasonable suspicion that such person has any weapons, illegal drugs, alcohol, stolen goods, or objects in violation of School Board policy.

#### PRIVATE PROPERTY

The School Board shall endeavor to protect the property of others while on School Board property but does not guarantee the safety of any personal item or vehicle while on school property. Therefore, the School Board or any of its employees shall not be responsible for any personal items stolen or damaged on school premises or property or at any schoolsponsored event.

Revised: August 1998 Revised: March 2009 Revised: February 2011 Revised: August 2011 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§**14:95.2**, 14:95.6, 14:95.9, 17:81, 17:239, 17:240, 17:405, 17:416.6; Board minutes, 8-18-98, 3-17-09, 2-15-11, 8-16-11.

Mrs. Monica Walther, Supervisor of Child Nutrition Program, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: E-4 Child Nutrition Program Management.

## **RECOMMENDATION NO. 5**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: E-4 Child Nutrition Program Management:

FILE: E-4 Cf: E-1.6, H-3.6g

## CHILD NUTRITION PROGRAM MANAGEMENT

The Terrebonne Parish School Board believes the school district should have a sound child nutrition program and that the child nutrition program should be an integral part of the total educational program. The Board also believes that the highest possible sanitation standards should be maintained and that every effort should be made to make it possible for every child to participate in the child nutrition program without regard to race, color, disability, national origin, sex, or age.

#### GUIDELINES

The Board shall administer a Food and Nutrition Program in accordance with federal and state standards and requirements as outlined by the Louisiana Department of Education, Bulletin 1196, Louisiana Food and Nutrition Programs, Policies of Operation, including that only products that have met all state certification requirements shall be utilized in child nutrition facilities. The School Board, as the recognized child nutrition program authority for the school district, shall annually approve the national school lunch program, school breakfast program, U.S.D.A school commodity programs and any other related programs. The approved agreement shall meet all specifications mandated by the Louisiana Department of Education's Division of Nutrition Assistance.

Each school shall abide by state and federal guideline restrictions on the operation of concessions, canteens, snack bars, vending machines or other food and beverage sales.

No supplies or foods, including leftovers, shall be removed from the child nutrition department by any employee of the school system unless he/she has been authorized to transfer the items to another school location. Disciplinary action may result for unauthorized food removal.

## SPECIAL EVENTS

Special events should not interfere with the preparation and service of school lunch, breakfasts, or snacks. School functions involving the use of the cafeteria shall be arranged through the principal and approved by the child nutrition supervisor. Whenever the cafeteria is used by the school, one or more of the child nutrition employees shall be in charge to ensure control over child nutrition foods and to ensure proper use and care of equipment and facilities. A *Special Event* form must be completed and sent to the supervisor of child nutrition at least two (2) weeks in advance of the event. Events that occur at scheduled times during the school year can be handled by sending in one notice listing all of the dates.

## PAYMENT FOR MEALS

Meals may be paid for daily, weekly, monthly, or annually. Those students not eligible for free meals must pay for their meals at the prices established for full price and reduced price students. Those students not eligible for free meals who have not paid for a scheduled meal may have that meal withheld.

In elementary schools, prior to withholding a meal, the school shall:

- 1. Provide actual notification to the child's parent or legal guardian as to the date and time after which meals may be denied, the reason for such denial, any action that may be taken by the parent or legal guardian to prevent further denial of meals, and the consequences of the failure to take appropriate actions to prevent such denial, including that the school governing authority shall contact the office of community services within the Department of Social Services upon the *third* instance of such denial during a single school year.
- 2. Verify with appropriate school staff that the child does not have an *Individual Education Plan* that requires the child to receive meals provided by the school to ensure that neither the child's health nor learning ability will be negatively affected by denying the child meals during school hours.

If the school denies a scheduled meal to a child, the school shall provide a sandwich or a substantial and nutritious snack item to the child as a substitute for the meal denied.

Upon the third (3<sup>rd</sup>) instance during a single school year of the same elementary school child being denied a meal during school hours, the School Board shall contact the office of community services within the Department of Social Services to report the failure of the parent or guardian to pay for meals which has resulted in repeated denials of meals during school hours.

The School Board shall document each instance that a child is denied a meal in an elementary school. and shall report annually to the State Superintendent of Education and to the respective legislative Committees on Education relative to the number of instances of denials of meals to children during school hours, the reason for the denial of meals to the child, the age and grade of each child so denied, and whether the child qualifies for free or reduced price lunch programs.

Charitable funds donated by school employees or other charitable funds may be used to pay for a child's meal in the event that he/she is subject to the denial of a meal during school hours.

No discrimination against any individual shall occur because of his/her inability to pay, nor shall the Board or any nutrition service provider publish or permit to be published the names of any individual unable to pay for the food.

Any public school employee who discloses the name of any individual unable to pay for such food, either orally or in written form, except as reasonably necessary in the conduct of his/her official duties, shall be subject to the penalties provided in state law. No employee shall disclose such information to any student for any reason.

## FREE AND REDUCED PRICE MEAL APPLICATIONS

Eligibility for participation of students in the free and reduced meal program shall be determined by family meal application or direct certification of participation in migrant, runaway, or homeless education programs. A multi-child, family application to apply for school meal benefits shall be sent to the parents or guardians of each student within the first week of school. Parents shall be requested to complete an application listing all students enrolled in Terrebonne Parish public schools and return it to the determining official for review. The applicant should be made aware that deliberate misrepresentation on the application may subject him or her to prosecution under applicable state and federal criminal statutes. Such applications (approved and disapproved) and documentation of the action taken shall be maintained for three (3) years after the end of the fiscal year to which they pertain.

State guidelines allow for the limited disclosure of information about free and reduced price meal eligibility without consent of the parent. The information may be used only for the purpose authorized and may not be shared with any other parties for any reason. Aggregate information that does not identify individuals continues to be permitted without parental consent. Under the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB), the release of a child's eligibility status is permitted to persons directly connected with and who need to know a child's free and reduced price meal eligibility status in order to administer and enforce the Title I requirements under the NCLB. The statute, however, does not allow the disclosure of any other information obtained from the free lunch application form or obtained through the direct certification information received from the food stamp office.

Revised: December 1997 Revised: August 1998 Revised: February 2006 Revised: September 2010 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:82, 17:191, 17:192, 17:192.1, 17:195, 17:196, 17:197.1, 17:198, 17:199, 39:2101, 40:4; Louisiana Food and Nutrition Programs, Policies of Operation, Bulletin 1196, Louisiana Department of Education; Louisiana Sanitary Code, La. Dept. of Health and Hospitals; Board minutes, 12-16-97, 8-18-98, 2-21-06, 09-21-10.

Dr. Debra Yarbrough, Supervisor of Personnel, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: F-9.14 Dismissal/Separation of Professional Personnel.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 6**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: F-9.14 Dismissal/Separation of Professional Personnel:

FILE: F-9.14 Cf: F-9.1, F-9.2 Cf: F-9.11, F-10.13, F-12.8

## DISMISSAL/SEPARATION OF PROFESSIONAL PERSONNEL

The Terrebonne Parish School Board shall strive to assist personnel in adjusting to their positions and to perform their duties satisfactorily.

With the exception of lay-offs caused by programmatic changes, budget cuts, staff reorganizations, and/or reduction of personnel actions other personnel actions reducing numbers of employees, no School Board employee shall be dismissed except as provided below. Any school employee shall be dismissed by the <u>Superintendent or the</u> School Board, in accordance with statutory provisions, upon final conviction or pleading nolo contendere of certain crimes enumerated in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §15:587.1 and/or any other felony <u>offense</u>. In addition, employees may be dismissed for failure to properly report arrests for certain offenses enumerated in La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:16.

If an employee is absent for ten (10) or more days without explanation or approved leave, the School Board may consider the job as abandoned and the employee may be terminated, unless the employee can provide acceptable and verifiable evidence of extenuating circumstances. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be responsible for determining acceptability of evidence of extenuating circumstances.

#### CERTIFICATED EMPLOYEES

#### Non-Tenured Teachers

The Superintendent may terminate the employment of any non-tenured teacher after providing such teacher with the written reasons therefore and providing the teacher the opportunity to respond. The teacher shall have seven (7) days to respond, and such response shall be included in the teacher's personnel file. The teacher shall not be entitled to a hearing before the School Board.

#### Tenured Teachers

A teacher with tenure shall not be removed from office except upon written and signed charges of poor performance, willful neglect of duty, incompetency, dishonesty, immorality, or of being a member of or contributing to any group, organization, movement, or corporation that is by law or injunction prohibited from operating in the state of Louisiana, and then only if furnished with a copy of such written charges and given the opportunity to respond. The Superintendent shall provide the teacher with written charges, and the teacher shall have seven (7) days to respond. Such response shall be included in the teacher's personnel file. At the end of the seven (7) day time period, the Superintendent may terminate the teacher's employment.

A teacher shall not be terminated for an *ineffective* performance rating until completion of the <u>School</u> Board's evaluation grievance procedure, if a grievance was timely filed.

Within seven (7) days after dismissal, a teacher may request and upon request shall be granted a hearing by a tenure hearing panel composed of a designee of the Superintendent, a designee of the principal, and a designee of the teacher. In no case shall the Superintendent, the principal, or teacher designate an immediate family member or any fulltime employee of the school system by which the teacher was employed who is under the supervision of the person making the designation. Such hearing may be private or public, at the option of the teacher, and shall begin within seven (7) business days after receipt of the teacher's request for such hearing. The teacher shall have the right to appear before the tenure hearing panel with witnesses on his/her behalf and with counsel of his/her selection, all of whom shall be heard by the tenure hearing panel at the hearing. For the purpose of conducting hearings hereunder, the tenure hearing panel shall have the power to issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of all witnesses. Nothing herein contained shall impair the right to seek supervisory review from a court of competent jurisdiction.

The tenure hearing panel shall submit its recommendation to the Superintendent, and the Superintendent may choose to reinstate the teacher. If the Superintendent does not reinstate the teacher, the Superintendent shall notify the teacher of his/her final determination, in writing, and such teacher may, not more than sixty (60) days from the post-marked date of such written notification, petition a court of competent jurisdiction to review whether the action of the Superintendent was arbitrary or capricious.

For purposes of termination, the results of a teacher's evaluation wherein the teacher's performance has been classified as *ineffective* shall constitute sufficient proof of poor performance, incompetence, or willful neglect of duty and no additional documentation shall be required to substantiate such charges.

#### Contract Appointees

Personnel who have entered into promotional employment contracts with the School Board, pursuant to La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:444, may be removed from their positions by *non-renewal* of their contracts or by *termination* of their contracts. For *non-renewal*, the School Board shall approve, based on the recommendation of the Superintendent, that a new contract not be issued for reasons which:

- (a) are based on evaluation of the employee's performance;
- (b) would constitute cause sufficient to support a mid-contract termination;
- (c) involve discontinuation of the contracted position; or
- (d) involve elimination of the position as a result of district reorganization.

Contracts may be non-renewed by the School Board for any of the

following reasons:

- (a) the Superintendent has recommended against renewal of the contract based on an evaluation of the employee's performance;
- (b) the failure to offer a new contract is based on a cause sufficient to support a mid-contract termination;
- (c) the position in question has been discontinued; or
- (d) the position in question has been eliminated as a result of district reorganization.

In a non-renewal situation, the employee shall not be entitled to a hearing before the **<u>School</u>** Board.

For *mid-contract termination* of promotional employment contracts, the employee shall receive written charges and a fair hearing before the School Board after reasonable written notice. A contract may be terminated if the employee is found guilty of being incompetent or inefficient or is found to have failed to fulfill the terms and performance objectives of his/her contract, or other reasons provided for by state law.

Revised: September 1998 Revised: February 1999 Revised: March 2004 Revised: November 2010 Revised: December 2011 Revised: September 2012 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§15:587.1, 17:15, 17:16, 17:442, 17:443, 17:444; **Rouselle v. Plaquemines Parish School Board, 633 So2d 1235 (La. 2/28/94);** Board minutes, 9-15-98, 2-9-99, 3-16-04, 11-16-10, 12-20-11, 9-18-12.

Dr. Yarbrough presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: F-10.13 Dismissal/Separation Non-Instructional/Support Personnel.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 7**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: F-10.13 Dismissal/Separation Non-Instructional/Support Personnel:

FILE: F-10.13 Cf: F-9-14

## DISMISSAL/SEPARATION NON-INSTRUCTIONAL/SUPPORT PERSONNEL

With the exception of layoffs caused by programmatic changes, budget cuts, staff reorganization, reduction in force and/or dismissal of tenured employees, no Terrebonne Parish School Board employee shall be dismissed except in accordance with the following procedure and except as provided by law.

## BUS OPERATORS

## Non-Tenured Bus Operators

## No bus operator hired after July 1, 2012, shall earn tenure.

A non-tenured bus operator shall be immediately dismissed if he/she is convicted of or has pled nolo contendere to violations of local or existing state law prohibiting operating a vehicle while intoxicated regardless of whether the violation occurred while performing in his/her official capacity as a school bus operator at the time of the offense.

A non-tenured bus operator may <u>also</u> be dismissed by the School Board upon the Superintendent's written recommendation. The employee shall not be entitled to a hearing before the <u>School</u> Board.

# <u>Tenured Bus Operators</u>

The School Board may dismiss any tenured bus operator only after written and signed charges against the bus operator have been prepared by the Superintendent and submitted to the **<u>School</u>** Board. The **<u>School</u>** Board, if it decides to proceed upon the charges, shall notify the bus operator, in writing, at least twenty (20) days prior to the hearing, stating the charges brought against him/her, and shall arrange for a hearing to be held in accordance with due process provisions of the law, such hearing to be public or private at the option of the bus operator. A tenured bus operator may be dismissed for willful neglect of duty, or incompetence, or immorality, or drunkenness while on duty, or failure to comply with requirements of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:491.3 relative to being arrested for one or more of the specified offenses, or physical disability to perform his/her duties, or failure to keep his/her transfer equipment in a safe, comfortable, and practical operating condition, or of being a member of or contributing to any group, organization, movement, or corporation that is prohibited by law or injunction from operating in the state, and then only if found guilty after a hearing by the School Board by a majority of the Board's membership.

An Additional ground<u>s</u> for the removal from office of any school bus operator shall be:

- **1.** the abolition, discontinuance, or consolidation of routes, but then only if it is found as a fact, after a hearing by the School Board, that it is in the best interests of the school system to abolish, discontinue, or consolidate said route or routes. If abolition, discontinuance, or consolidation of bus routes is approved, the principle of seniority shall apply, so that the last school bus operator hired to serve within the school system to be affected shall be the first to be removed.
- 2. <u>conviction of or plea of nolo contendere to a violation of a parish or</u> <u>municipal ordinance that prohibits operating a vehicle while</u> <u>intoxicated or any of the existing state offenses relative to operating a</u> <u>vehicle while intoxicated, as enumerated in La. Rev. Stat. Ann.</u> <u>§17:493, regardless of whether the violation occurred while</u> <u>performing in his/her official capacity as a school bus operator at the</u> <u>time of the offense.</u>

#### SCHOOL EMPLOYEES

All employees of the system whose dismissal is not governed by the

provision of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:441-446, or by the provisions of La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:491-494, shall be subject to dismissal upon the written recommendation by the Superintendent to the School Board. Such employees shall not be entitled to a hearing before the **School** Board.

Revised: November 1998 Revised: November 2010 Revised: December 2011 Revised: October 2012 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§15:587.1, 17:15, 17:16, 17:81.5, 17:492, 17:493, 17:493.1; Board minutes, 2-23-88, 5-17-90, 11-17-98, 11-16-10, 12-20-11, 10-16-12.

Dr. Yarbrough presented new policy FILE: F-12.11 Miscellaneous Conditions of Employment.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 8**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following new policy FILE: F-12.11 Miscellaneous Conditions of Employment:

FILE: F-12.11 Cf: E-1, E-1.2, F-12.8

# MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

## INSPECTIONS AND SEARCHES

It shall be the policy of the Terrebonne Parish School Board to reserve the right to inspect any School Board-owned property including, without limitations, computers, desks, lockers, and similar furnishings at any time, with or without notice, and that personal property an employee may bring onto School Board premises may be subject to inspection, including searches, in connection with the School Board's investigation of stolen property, hazardous materials, controlled substances, or the health and safety of employees and students.

As a condition of employment, each employee of the School Board shall acknowledge the School Board's right to conduct such inspections and investigations, and agree to any inspections made, and cooperate in all respects during any such proceedings.

# SECURITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

It is the policy of the School Board to maintain strict control over entrance to the premises, access to work locations and records, computer information, and cash and other items of monetary value. Employees who are assigned keys, given special access, or assigned job responsibilities in connection with the safety, security, or confidentiality of such records, material, equipment, or items of monetary or business value shall be required to use sound judgment and discretion in performing their duties, and shall be held accountable for any wrong-doing or acts of indiscretion.

Confidential information obtained as a result of employment with the School Board shall not be used by an employee for the purpose of furthering any private interest, or as a means of making personal gains. Use or disclosure of such information may result in civil or criminal penalties, both for the individuals involved and for the School Board and subject the employee to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

## ACCOMMODATIONS FOR BREAST-FEEDING MOTHERS

Each school under the jurisdiction of the School Board shall provide the following:

- 1. An appropriate, private room, other than a restroom, that may be used by an employee to express breast milk.
- 2. A reasonable amount of break time to accommodate an employee needing to express breast milk that, to the extent possible, shall run concurrently with the break time already provided to the employee, and that shall be available to the employee for up to one (1) year following the birth of her child.
- 3. Procedures for the employee to notify her supervisor or other appropriate personnel of her intent to make use of the accommodations offered pursuant to this policy and to schedule accordingly.

Any additional break time used by an employee to express breast milk shall be considered unpaid leave time.

New policy: October 2013

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:81.

Mrs. Mary Aucoin, Supervisor of Special Education, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: G-2.4c Education of Students with Exceptionalities.

# RECOMMENDATION NO. 9

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: G-2.4c Education of Students with Exceptionalities:

# FILE: G-2.4c

# EDUCATION OF STUDENTS WITH EXCEPTIONALITIES

The Terrebonne Parish School Board shall provide <u>make available</u> a free appropriate public education in the least restrictive environment to every <u>each</u> student with an exceptionality, ages three through twenty-one, who is a resident of the geographical boundaries of the school district. Special education and related services may be provided by the School Board for to eligible children <u>with exceptionalities</u> under three years of age. Generally, identified children shall be screened and evaluated to determine eligibility to receive special education<del>al</del> <u>and related</u> services while receiving educational support in the regular classroom. If it is determined in <u>through</u> the evaluation process that a child has a disability<sub>7</sub> impairment, or condition that impedes the educational process <u>and</u>, <u>by</u> reason thereof needs special education and related services, then the child is classified according to <u>in accordance with</u> the <u>Louisiana's</u> <u>Pupil</u> <u>Appraisal Handbook</u>, Bulletin 1508, guidelines and becomes eligible to receive special education services. All special education services shall be performed provided to eligible students with exceptionalities in accordance with the regulations outlined in <u>Regulations for the Implementation of the Exceptional Children's Act</u>, Bulletin 1706 and all other applicable federal and state regulations.

The School Board shall establish and maintain regulations **policies** and procedures in accordance with federal and state laws and regulations to ensure that students with exceptionalities and their parents are provided the necessary procedural safeguards with respect to the provision of free appropriate public education by the School Board.

#### SECLUSION AND RESTRAINT

The School Board recognizes that, in order for students to receive a free appropriate public education, a safe learning environment needs to be provided. In doing so, the School Board also recognizes that there are circumstances in school under which reasonable and appropriate measures and techniques will need to be employed in dealing with students with exceptionalities who pose an imminent risk of harm to self or others.

The School Board fully supports the use of positive behavior interventions and support when addressing student behavior. The School Board reserves its right, however, to use physical restraint and/or seclusion consistent with state law to address the behavior of a student with an exceptionality when school personnel reasonably believe the behavior poses an imminent risk of harm to the student or others. The School Board shall not preclude the use of physical restraint and/or seclusion performed consistent with the requirements of a student's *Individualized Education Program* (IEP) or behavior intervention/management plan.

## <u>The provisions regarding seclusion and restraint shall not be applicable to</u> <u>a student who has been deemed to be gifted or talented under Bulletin</u> <u>1508, unless the student has been identified as also having a disability.</u>

# **Definitions**

*Imminent risk of harm* shall mean an immediate and impending threat of a person causing substantial physical injury to self or others.

Seclusion shall mean a procedure that isolates and confines a student in a separate room or area until he or she is no longer an immediate danger to self or others.

Seclusion room means a room or other confined area, used on an individual basis, in which a student is removed from the regular classroom setting for a limited time to allow the student the opportunity to regain control in a private setting and from which the student is involuntarily prevented from leaving.

Mechanical restraint means the application of any device or object used to limit a person's movement. Mechanical restraint does *not* include: (1) A protective or stabilizing device used in strict accordance with the manufacturer's instructions for proper use and which is used in compliance with orders issued by an appropriately licensed health care provider; and (2) Any device used by a duly licensed law enforcement officer in the execution of his/her official duties. Physical restraint means bodily force used to limit a person's movement. Physical restraint does not include: (1) Consensual, solicited, or unintentional contact; (2) Holding of a student by a school employee for less than five minutes in any given hour or class period for the protection of the student or others; (3) Holding of a student, by one school employee, for the purpose of calming or comforting the student, provided the student's freedom of movement or normal access to his or her body is not restricted; (4) Minimal physical contact for the purpose of safely escorting a student from one area to another; (5) Minimal physical contact for the purpose of assisting the student in completing a task or response.

Positive behavior interventions and support means a systematic approach to embed evidence-based practices and data-driven decision making when addressing student behavior in order to improve school climate and culture.

School employee means a teacher, paraprofessional, administrator, support staff member, or a provider of related services.

# Documentation and Notification

The parent or other legal guardian of a student who has been placed in seclusion or physically restrained shall be notified as soon as possible. The student's parent or other legal guardian shall also be notified in writing, within twenty-four (24) hours, of each incident of seclusion or physical restraint. Such notice shall include the reason for such seclusion or physical restraint, the procedures used, the length of time of the student's seclusion or physical restraint, and the names and titles of any school employee involved.

The director or supervisor of special education shall be notified any time a student is placed in seclusion or is physically restrained.

A school employee who has placed a student in seclusion or who has physically restrained a student shall document and report each incident. Such report shall be submitted to the school principal not later than the school day immediately following the day on which the student was placed in seclusion or physically restrained and a copy shall be provided to the student's parent or legal guardian.

This policy and the guidelines and procedures regarding seclusion and restraint maintained by the Superintendent and staff shall be provided to all school employees and every parent of a <u>child</u> <u>student</u> with <del>an</del> exceptionality <u>a disability under Bulletin 1508.</u>

All instances where seclusion or physical restraint is used to address student behavior <u>of students with disabilities under Bulletin 1508</u> shall be reported by the School Board to the Louisiana Department of Education <u>(LDE)</u>.

# <u>Guidelines and Procedures</u>

The School Board shall require the Superintendent and staff to maintain adequate written guidelines and procedures governing the use of seclusion and physical restraint of students in accordance with federal and state law, as well as regulations and guidelines promulgated by the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE). The School Board shall approve written guidelines and procedures regarding appropriate responses to student behavior that may require immediate intervention using seclusion and/or restraint. The written guidelines and procedures shall be provided to all school employees and every parent of a student with an exceptionality and shall include reporting requirements and follow-up procedures, including notification requirements for school officials, notification to the student's parent or legal guardian, and reporting of seclusion and restraint incidents to the Louisiana Department of Education LDE.

# <u>Follow-Up</u>

Following any situation resulting in the use of seclusion or restraint of a student, a *Functional Behavioral Assessment* (FBA) should be considered. If a student subject to the use of seclusion or physical restraint is involved in five (5) such incidents in the school year, the student's *Individualized Education Plan* **Program** (IEP) team shall review and revise the student's Behavior Intervention Plan (BIP) to include any appropriate and necessary behavioral supports. Documentation compiled for a student who has been placed in seclusion or has been physically restrained and whose challenging behavior continues or escalates shall be reviewed at least once every three (3) weeks.

# Employee Training Requirements

The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be responsible for conducting or obtaining appropriate training programs for school personnel designed to address the use of seclusion and restraint techniques with students with disabilities. In addition, positive behavioral intervention strategies, crisis intervention, and de-escalation, as well as other procedures, may also be included in any training.

# Charter Schools

Notwithstanding any state law, rule, or regulation to the contrary and except as may be otherwise specifically provided for in an approved charter, a charter school established and operated in accordance with state law, including its approved charter and the school's officers and employees, shall be subject to the School Board's policy and written procedures and guidelines regarding the use of seclusion and restraint with students with exceptionalities.

Revised: October 2000 Revised: March 2009 Revised: February 2012 Revised: June 2012 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: 20 USCA §1400 et seq. (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act); 34 CFR §300-308 (Assistance to States for the Education of Children with Disabilities); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:7, 17:416.21, 17:1941, 17:1942, 17:1943, 17:1944, 17:1945, 17:1946, 17:1947; <u>Pupil Appraisal Handbook</u>, Bulletin 1508, Louisiana Department of Education; <u>Regulations for the Implementation of the Exceptional Children's Act</u>, Bulletin 1706, Louisiana Department of Education; 3.17-09, 02-14-12, 6-19-12.

Mr. Graham Douglas, Supervisor of Secondary Education, presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: G-4 Co-Curricular

and Extracurricular Activities.

## **RECOMMENDATION NO. 10**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: G-4 Co-Curricular and Extracurricular Activities:

FILE: G-4 Cf: G-4.1

## CO-CURRICULAR AND EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

The Terrebonne Parish School Board shall be committed to providing for each of its schools a program of student activities to all students in a manner which allows students equal opportunity to participate in services and activities. All activities shall be in compliance with pertinent regulations of the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education.

Seventh (7<sup>th</sup>) grade students shall be eligible to participate in co-curricular and extracurricular activities at schools where such programs exist within their school district boundaries.

## CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

Co-curricular activities are activities that are relevant, supportive, that are an integral part of the program of studies in which the student is enrolled, and that are under the supervision and/or coordination of the school instructional staff.

#### EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

Extracurricular activities are those activities which are not directly related to the program of studies, which are under the supervision and/or coordination of the school instructional staff, and which are considered valuable for the overall development of the student.

Extracurricular activities shall not be scheduled during instructional time, whenever possible.

# ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR EXTRACURRICULAR AND CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

- 1. No student shall be allowed to participate in any event on the day or night while the student is under suspension from school.
- 2. All work missed by students while participating in student activities or events shall be made up and completed in a manner that would be required of any other students in order to receive credit.
- 3. The guidelines for athletic policies and procedures shall comply with those of the Louisiana State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education, the Louisiana High School Athletic Association Official Handbook, and the Board policy.

All rules and regulations not specifically designated by Board policy shall conform to Louisiana High School Athletic Association (LHSAA) Official Handbook for all Athletic Programs.

Notwithstanding any policy, rule, or regulation adopted by the School Board to the contrary, no student otherwise eligible to participate in an extracurricular activity, <u>including interscholastic athletics</u>, shall be limited in the number of such activities in which the student may participate during the school year.

## SPECIAL EDUCATION STUDENT PARTICIPATION

All non-academic and extracurricular services and activities shall be offered to all exceptional students in a manner that allows them equal opportunity to participate in services and activities.

Revised: June 1999 Revised: July 2001 Revised: November 2001 Revised: February 2002 Revised: February 2003 Revised: July 2004 Revised: July 2013 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:176; <u>Louisiana Handbook for School</u> <u>Administrators</u>, Bulletin 741, Louisiana Department of Education; <u>Official</u> <u>Handbook</u>, Louisiana High School Athletic Association; La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:176; Board minutes, 9-5-95, 3-2-99, 6-15-99, 7-17-01, 11-20-01, 2-19-02, 2-18-03, 7-6-04, 07-16-13.

Mr. Douglas presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: G-4.1 Interscholastic Athletics.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 11**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: G-4.1 Interscholastic Athletics:

FILE: G-4.1 Cf: G-4, G-4.2, G-4.3

#### INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS

The Terrebonne Parish School Board believes that the competitive athletic program is a part of the overall educational program of the school system. It also believes that the athletic program should be closely coordinated with the general instructional program of the school, and that the aims achieved through athletics should justify its inclusion in the overall educational program.

#### ATHLETIC PROGRAM

Interscholastic athletics may be made available for students in the schools of the school district. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall develop and maintain an athletic program in the school district that emphasizes participation of all students. The conduction of all athletic programs within the school district shall comply fully with regulations of the *Louisiana High School Athletic Association* (LHSAA) and policies of the School Board. The Board shall allow students to participate in as many sports activities and academic activities as he/she is capable of participating in without fear of reprisal.

#### STUDENTS IN HOME STUDY PROGRAMS

Students participating in a home study program approved by the Louisiana Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) may be eligible to participate in interscholastic athletic activities at a high school that is a member of the Louisiana High School Athletic Association (LHSAA). To be eligible to participate, the home study student shall meet each of the following requirements:

- 1. The student shall be subject to the same residency or attendance zone requirements as other students participating in the athletic activity.
- 2. The student's parent or legal guardian shall make a written request for the student to participate in interscholastic athletic activities to the principal of the school providing the activity. Such request shall be made not later than the first eleven (11) days of the school year.
- 3. The principal of the school providing the athletic activity shall approve or disapprove such written request within thirty (30) days after receipt by the principal of all information and documentation requested by the principal from the student or the student's parent or legal guardian, or both. Such information and documentation shall be noted in item 5 below, as well as information and documentation that is required of other students relative to participation in the athletic activity. The decision by the principal to approve or disapprove the written request for the student to participate shall be **final**.
- 4. If participation is approved, then at the time of participation in the athletic activity, the student and the student's home study program shall be in full compliance with all guidelines, standards, and requirements established by state law for home study programs.
- 5. The student shall submit documentation from BESE that the student is in a home study program approved by BESE. The student shall submit a copy of his/her transcript showing units of study completed or in progress, the grades earned for such study, and his/her cumulative grade point average.
- 6. The student shall be required to meet academic standards required of other students to participate in the athletic activity.
- 7. The student shall be required to meet all other standards and requirements applicable to a student participating in the athletic activity, including but not limited to tryouts, practice time, codes of conduct and student discipline, physical exams, proof of age, permission forms, waivers, required paperwork, fees, and transportation arrangements but excluding any requirements that the student be enrolled in or attend the school, or both.
- 8. The student shall be required to meet conditions applicable to students at the school relative to having any required insurance coverage either by participating, if otherwise eligible, in insurance programs offered through the school or school system or by providing for such insurance coverage in another manner.

After a decision is made by the principal to approve a request for the student to participate, then the student shall participate in any tryouts for

such activity at the same time and in the same manner as other students who want to participate in the same activity.

Any home study student who provides, or on whose behalf others provide, any false representation, documentation, or verification of the student's qualifications for the purpose of meeting eligibility requirements to participate in interscholastic athletics shall be ruled ineligible to participate in accordance with policies of the LHSAA and shall be subject to the same penalties as other students. Likewise, a school determined to be knowledgeable of any false representation, documentation, or verification of a home study student's qualifications for the purpose of meeting eligibility requirements to participate in interscholastic athletics shall be subject to penalties as established by the LHSAA for use of an ineligible student athlete.

A student who has been enrolled in a public or nonpublic school during the school year in which the student begins home study or during the previous school year and who was determined ineligible to participate in one or more interscholastic extracurricular activities at such school for reasons related to student conduct or academic performance, or both, shall be ineligible to participate in interscholastic athletic activities for one (1) calendar year from the date the student was determined ineligible.

A student who has been enrolled in a public or nonpublic school during the school year in which the student begins home study shall not be eligible to participate in interscholastic athletic activities during the remainder of that school year nor during the following school year.

## PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS

No student shall be permitted to practice or participate in any interscholastic athletic program in any public school of the Terrebonne Parish School Board until such student shall have furnished to the principal of the school documentation that he/she has met the following requirements:

# 1. To participate in interscholastic athletic activities, students must be enrolled in a Terrebonne Parish public school.

- **1.2.** Evidence of having had a physical examination by a licensed physician who shall have completed documentation as required by the Louisiana High School Athletic Association (LHSAA).
- 2.3. Properly complete a School Entrance and General Health Exam Form/LHSAA Medical History and pass a medical examination by a licensed physician prior to the first time he/she participates in a sport in a LHSAA school. Physicians may continue to use the original LHSAA Sports Physical Form in performing sports physicals. In addition, parents shall be required to complete the Authorization for Release of Confidential Information.
- 3.4. Once a student passes the initial medical examination and completes an LHSAA Medical History Form prior to the sports season in which he/she participates, he/she shall annually pass any medical screening or medical examination required by a licensed physician and shall update his/her LHSAA Medical History Form as required.
- 4.5. A copy of all completed and signed medical examination and participation/release of information forms (and any others required by the School Board) must be on file at the school for every student

before he/she practices or participates in interscholastic athletics during that school year.

- 5.6. An agreement signed by the student's parent(s) or legal guardian(s) to hold the School Board and its members, employees, agents, assigns and insurers harmless from and against any liability for any accidents involving the student while participating in such athletic activities and any injuries suffered by the student during, or as a result of, such participation. The agreement shall also authorize team physicians to treat the student in the event of an injury requiring emergency treatment.
- 6.7. Students shall sign a form consenting to random drug screening and must obtain the written consent of their parent(s) or guardian(s) for said tests in order to be eligible to participate in any athletic or extracurricular activity. (See policy G-4.2, Extracurricular Activity Drug Testing)

## RULES VIOLATION

Adherence to the rules of athletic representation and participation shall be strictly enforced by the Board. Any violations of athletic rules shall be immediately reported to the Superintendent by the principal. In the event that a member school, member school principal, or member school coach is penalized or cited by the LHSAA due to a violation, the athletic director, principal, and coach involved shall provide a full report to the Superintendent. If found warranted, the Superintendent in turn shall make a report to the School Board with pertinent recommendations for disciplinary action.

# SCHOLASTIC REQUIREMENTS

The School Board endorses the scholastic eligibility requirements as a condition for participation in high school extracurricular activities as stipulated by the LHSAA. Scholastic requirements shall be as follow:

- To be eligible for the first semester of the school year, a student shall have earned at least six (6) units from the previous school year, which shall be listed on the student's transcript, and shall have at least a "C" average as determined by the School Board when considering all "graded" subjects.
- 2. To be eligible for the second semester of the school year, a student shall pass at least six (6) subjects from the first semester. A senior attempting four (4) units in the first semester must pass all four (4) units to be eligible in the second semester. Likewise, a senior attempting five (5) units in the first semester must pass all five (5) units, and a senior taking six (6) or more units in the first semester must pass six (6) units for second semester eligibility.
- 3. The LHSAA includes specific eligibility rules for special education students which must be met for their participation.

Individual schools or the School Board may set higher, but not lower scholastic requirements for interscholastic athletic participation.

#### INSURANCE COVERAGE

Athletes shall have either school student insurance or a signed statement

from the parent showing that the student is otherwise covered for any accident or injuries that may occur during any athletic participation. No students shall be allowed to practice or participate in interscholastic athletics until this requirement has been met.

## **REGULATIONS GOVERNING SPORTS**

- 1. At all times, equipment must be adequate for the best protection of the players.
- 2. The principal of each school shall be responsible for the sports medicine aspects of competition as it relates to his/her team.
- 3. A responsible individual should be assigned to handle athletic injuries during out-of-town games. Prior to the competition, this person is responsible for checking with the host team as to the availability of doctors and medical facilities.
- 4. As far as practicable and possible, these rules must also cover the non-contact sports (basketball, baseball, track and others).
- 5. Limit number of sports in the four high schools to football, volleyball, basketball, track, softball, baseball, soccer, tennis, cross country, swimming, and golf. Participation in all other Louisiana High School Athletic Association sports shall be a school-based decision at no cost to the Board.
- 6. Student athletes in seventh and eighth grades shall be allowed dual participation in sports.

# PRACTICES BEFORE SCHOOL OPENS

- 1. One early and/or one late practice to utilize the coolest part of the day is allowed.
- 2. A break of approximately 10-15 minutes at each session must be provided at which time a fruit juice and salt tablets will be available to replenish the loss of body fluids.
- 3. A designated trainer or coach will be responsible for the care of any injuries. Parents should be notified immediately of any serious injuries.
- 4. All practice sessions must be approved by the principal of the school.

# PRACTICES AFTER SCHOOL OPENS

- 1. During and after school practice will terminate by 5:30 P.M.
- 2. No team will be on the practice field longer than two and one-half hours per day.
- 3. A designated person should be assigned to check on all injuries. Parents should be notified immediately of serious injuries.
- 4. Proper first aid equipment must readily be available during and after practice.
- 5. Principals must approve all practice sessions.

# 10/15/2013 SCHOOL BOARD MEETING

Revised:	February 1996
Revised:	October 1996
Revised:	October 1998
Revised:	August 2006
Revised:	September 2010
Revised:	October 2011
Revised:	August 2012
<u>Revised:</u>	October 2013

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:169, 17:176, 17:236.3; Louisiana Handbook for <u>School Administrators</u>, Bulletin 741, Louisiana Department of Education; <u>Official Handbook</u>, Louisiana High School Athletic Association; Board minutes, 5-14-74, 9-14-76, 10-12-76, 9-13-77, 5-21-91, 4-21-92, 2-13-96, 10-15-96, 10-6-98, 8-19-03 (ref. only, no action), 8-15-06, 9-21-10, 10-18-11, 08-21-12.

Mr. Simmons presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: G-13.2a Prayer in Schools.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 12**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: G-13.2a Prayer in Schools:

#### FILE: G-13.2a

#### PRAYER IN SCHOOLS

The Terrebonne Parish School Board shall permit school authorities of each school to allow an opportunity at the start of each school day for those students and teachers desiring to do so to observe a brief time in silent prayer or meditation.

Public schools shall be prohibited from adopting or using any official or standard prayer. Voluntary, student-initiated, student-led prayer in accordance with the religious views of the student offering the prayer may be permitted, however; no student attending the school shall be required to participate in any religious activity at school.

No law, rule, or policy shall deny to any student attending a public elementary or secondary school the right to participate in voluntary, student-initiated, student-led prayer during school or on school property, before or after school or during free time. Athletic teams shall not be prohibited in engaging in voluntary, student-initiated, student-led prayer.

No law, rule, or policy shall prevent any student who attends a public elementary or secondary school and who is responsible for or presiding over a meeting of a school organization or assembly from calling upon a student volunteer to offer an inspirational quotation or statement, offer a voluntary prayer, or lead in silent meditation, at the sole option of the student volunteer.

A student organization shall not be denied recognition or any privilege or benefit solely because it is religious in nature, has a religious affiliation, or has no religious affiliation.

School officials shall be prohibited from censoring for religious content the speech of a high school student invited to speak at a commencement ceremony at the school he/she is attending.

When student volunteers are called upon to offer an inspirational quotation or statement, offer a prayer, or lead in silent meditation, such students shall be selected at random by a student from among student volunteers without respect to their individual religious beliefs or lack thereof. No student shall be called upon to offer an inspirational quotation or statement, offer a voluntary prayer, or lead in silent meditation unless the student has volunteered to do so.

## **STUDENT-INITIATED PRAYER**

Upon the request of any public school student or students, the principal or his/her designee may permit students to gather for prayer in a classroom, auditorium, or other space that is not in use, at any time before the school day begins when the school is open and students are allowed on campus, at any time after the school day ends provided that at least one student club or organization is meeting at that time, or at any non-instructional time during the school day. A school employee may be assigned to supervise the gathering if such supervision is also requested by the student or students and the school employee volunteers to supervise the gathering.

Any school employee may attend and participate in the gathering if it occurs before the employee's work day begins or after the employee's work day ends.

Any parent may attend the gathering if the parent adheres to school procedures for approval of visitors on the school campus.

The students may invite persons from the community to attend and participate in the gathering if other school organizations and clubs are allowed to make similar invitations. Such persons shall adhere to school procedures for approval of visitors on the school campus.

March 1999 Revised: December 1999 Revised: October 2002 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§17:2115, 17:2115.1, 17:2115.2, 17:2115.3, 17:2115.4, 17:2115.5, 17:2115.6, 17:2115.7, 17:2115.8, 17:2115.9, 17:2115.10, **17:2115.11**; Board minutes, 3-16-99, 12-14-99, 10-15-02.

Mr. Simmons presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: H-3.3h Bullying and Hazing.

#### **RECOMMENDATION NO. 13**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: H-3.3h Bullying and Hazing:

FILE: H-3.3h Cf: F-12.3, G-11.4 Cf: H-3.3, H-4.5

#### **BULLYING AND HAZING**

The Terrebonne Parish School Board is committed to maintaining a safe, orderly, civil and positive learning environment so that no student feels bullied, threatened, or harassed while in school or participating in school-

related activities. Students and their parents/guardians shall be notified that the school, school bus, and all other school environments are to be safe and secure for all. Therefore, all statements or actions of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior such as threatening or harassment, made on campus, at school-sponsored activities or events, on school buses, at school bus stops, and on the way to and from school shall not be tolerated. Even if made in a joking manner, these statements or actions of bullying or hazing, or similar behavior towards other students, school personnel, or school property shall be unacceptable.

All students, teachers, and other school employees shall take responsible measures within the scope of their individual authority to prevent violations of this policy.

Bullying shall mean:

- 1. A pattern of any one or more of the following:
  - A. Gestures, including, but not limited to, obscene gestures and making faces.
  - B. Written, electronic, or verbal communications, including but not limited to, calling names, threatening harm, taunting, malicious teasing, or spreading untrue rumors. *Electronic communication* includes, but is not limited to, a communication or image transmitted by email, instant message, text message, blog, or social networking website through the use of a telephone, mobile phone, pager, computer, or other electronic device.
  - C. Physical acts including, but not limited to, hitting, kicking, pushing, tripping, choking, damaging personal property, or unauthorized use of personal property.
  - D. Repeatedly and purposefully shunning or excluding from activities.
- 2. Where the pattern of behavior as enumerated above is exhibited toward a student, more than once, by another student or group of students and occurs, or is received by, a student while on school property, at a school-sponsored or school-related function or activity, in any school bus or van, at any designated school bus stop, in any other school or private vehicle used to transport students to and from schools, or any school-sponsored activity or event.
- 3. The pattern of behavior as provided above must have the effect of physically harming a student, placing the student in reasonable fear of physical harm, damaging a student's property, placing the student in reasonable fear of damage to the student's property, or must be sufficiently severe, persistent, and pervasive enough to either create an intimidating or threatening educational environment, have the effect of substantially interfering with a student's performance in school, or have the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of the school.

Hazing shall mean any knowing behavior, whether by commission or omission, of any student to encourage, direct, order, or participate in any activity which subjects another student to potential physical, mental, or psychological harm for the purpose of initiation or admission into, affiliation with, continued membership in, or acceptance by existing members of any organization or extracurricular activity at a public elementary or secondary school, whether such behavior is planned or occurs on or off school property, including any school bus and school bus stop. Hazing does not mean any adult-directed and school-sanctioned athletic program practice or event or military training program.

Any solicitation to engage in hazing, and the aiding and abetting another person who engages in hazing shall be prohibited. The consent, stated or implied, of the hazing victim shall not be a defense in determining disciplinary action.

## NOTICE TO STUDENTS AND PARENTS

The School Board shall inform each student, orally and in writing, at the required orientation conducted at the beginning of each school year, of the prohibition against bullying, hazing, or similar behavior of a student by another student; the nature and consequences of such actions; including the potential criminal consequences and loss of driver's license, and the proper process and procedure for reporting any incidents involving such prohibited actions. A copy of the written notice shall also be delivered to each student's parent or legal guardian.

## **REPORTING**

The principal or his/her designee shall be authorized to receive complaints alleging violation of this policy. All employees, parents, volunteers, or any other school personnel shall report alleged violations to the principal or his/her designee. Any written or oral report of an act of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall be considered an official means of reporting such act(s). Complaints, reports, and investigative reports of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall remain *confidential*, with limited exception of state or federal law.

The reporting of incidents of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior shall be made on the *Bullying Report* form, which shall include an *affirmation* of *truth*. Any bullying, hazing, or similar behavior report submitted, regardless of recipient, shall use this form, but additional information may be provided.

#### Students and Parents

Any student who believes that he/she has been, or is currently, the victim of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, or any student, or any parent or guardian, who witnesses bullying, hazing, or similar behavior or has good reason to believe bullying, hazing, or similar behavior is taking place, may report the situation to a school official, who in turn shall report the situation to the principal or his/her designee. A student, or parent or guardian, may also report concerns regarding bullying, hazing, or similar behavior to a teacher, counselor, other school employee, or to any parent chaperoning or supervising a school function or activity. Any report shall remain confidential.

#### <u>School Personnel</u>

Any school employee, whether full- or part-time, and any parent/volunteer chaperoning or supervising a school function or activity, who witnesses or learns of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior from a

student or parent, shall report the incident to the principal or his/her designee. Verbal reports shall be submitted by the employee or parent/volunteer on the same day as the employee or parent/volunteer witnessed or otherwise learned of the incident, and a written report shall be filed no later than two (2) days thereafter.

All other members of the school community, including students, parents or legal guardians, volunteers, and visitors shall be encouraged to report any act that may be a violation of this policy to the principal or his/her designee.

## False Reports

Intentionally making false reports about bullying, hazing, or similar behavior to school officials shall be prohibited conduct and shall result in appropriate disciplinary measures as determined by the School Board.

## INVESTIGATION PROCEDURE

Investigations of any reports of bullying, hazing or similar behavior of a student by another student shall be in accordance with the following:

1. Timing

The school shall begin an investigation of any complaint that is properly reported and that alleges the prohibited conduct the next business or school day after the report is received by the principal or his/her designee. The investigation shall be completed not later than ten (10) school days after the date the written report of the incident is submitted to the principal or his/her designee. If additional information is received after the end of the ten-day period, the school principal or his/her designee shall amend all documents and reports required to reflect such information.

2. Scope of Investigation

An investigation shall include documented interviews of the reporter, the alleged victim, the alleged bully or offender, and any witnesses, and shall include obtaining copies or photographs of any audio-visual evidence. Interviews must be conducted privately, separately, and confidentially. At no time shall the alleged offender and alleged victim be interviewed together.

The principal or his/her designee shall collect and evaluate all facts using the *Bullying Investigation* form.

3. Parental Notification

Upon receiving a report of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, the school shall notify the parents or legal guardians of the alleged offender and the alleged victim no later than the following business or school day. Delivery of notice to the parents or legal guardians by an involved student shall not constitute the required parental notice.

Before any student under the age of eighteen (18) is interviewed, his/her parent or legal guardian shall be notified by the principal or his/her designee of the allegations made and shall have the opportunity to attend any interviews with their child conducted as part of the investigation.

All meetings with the parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and the parents or legal guardians of the alleged offender shall be in compliance with the following:

- A. Separate meetings shall be held with the parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and the parents or legal guardians of the alleged offender.
- B. Parents or legal guardians of the alleged victim and of the alleged offender shall be informed of the potential consequences, penalties, and counseling options.

In any case where a teacher, principal, or other school employee is authorized to require the parent or legal guardian of a student who is under the age of eighteen (18) and not judicially emancipated or emancipated by marriage to attend a conference or meeting regarding the student's behavior and, after notice, the parent, tutor, or legal guardian willfully refuses to attend, the principal or his/her designee shall file a complaint, pursuant to Louisiana Children's Code, Article 730 or 731, with a court exercising juvenile jurisdiction. The principal may also file a complaint on the grounds the student is a truant or has willfully and repeatedly violated school rules, or any other applicable ground when, in his/her judgment, doing so is in the best interests of the student.

4. Documentation

At the conclusion of an investigation of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior, and after meeting with the parents or legal guardians, the principal or his/her designee or School Board shall:

- A. Prepare a written report containing the findings of the investigation, including input from students' parents or legal guardians, and the decision by the principal or his/her designee or school system official. The document shall be placed in the school records of both students.
- B. Promptly notify the reporter/complainant of the findings of the investigation and whether remedial action has been taken, if such release of information does not violate the law.
- C. Keep reports/complaints and investigative reports confidential, except where disclosure is required to be made by applicable federal laws, rules, or regulations or by state law.
- D. Maintain reports/complaints and investigative reports for three (3) years.
- E. As applicable, provide a copy of any reports and investigative documents to the School Board for disciplinary measures, or to the Louisiana Department of Education, as necessary.

During the pendency of an investigation, the school district may take immediate steps, at its discretion, to protect the alleged victim, students, teachers, administrators or other school personnel pending completion of the investigation.

# <u>APPEAL</u>

If the school principal or his/her designee does not take timely and effective action, the student, parent, or school employee may report, in writing, the incident to the School Board. The School Board shall begin an investigation of any properly reported complaint that alleges prohibited conduct the next business day during which school is in session after the report is received by the School Board.

If the School Board does not take timely and effective action, the student, parent, or other school employee may report any bullying incident to the Louisiana Department of Education.

## DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Once a report has been received at a school, and a school principal or his/her designee has determined that an act of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior has occurred, and after having met with the parent or legal guardian of the student involved, the principal or his/her designee, or applicable school official shall take prompt and appropriate disciplinary action against the student, and report criminal conduct to law enforcement. Counseling and/or other interventions may also be recommended.

Students may be disciplined for off-campus bullying, hazing, or similar behavior the same as if the improper conduct occurred on campus, if the actions of the offender substantially interferes with the education opportunities or educational programs of the student victim and/or adversely affects the ability of the student victim to participate in or benefit from the school's education programs or activities.

# PARENTAL RELIEF

If a parent, legal guardian, teacher, or other school official has made four (4) or more reports of separate instances of bullying, and no investigation pursuant to state law or this policy has occurred, the parent or legal guardian of the alleged victim may request that the student be transferred to another school operated by the School Board.

Such request shall be filed with the Superintendent. Upon receipt of the request to transfer the student to another school, the School Board shall make a seat available at another school under its jurisdiction within ten (10) school days of the parent or legal guardian's request for a transfer. If the School Board has no other school under its jurisdiction serving the grade level of the victim, within fifteen (15) school days of receiving the request, the Superintendent shall:

- 1. Inform the student and his/her parent or legal guardian and facilitate the student's enrollment in a statewide virtual school.
- 2. Offer the student a placement in a full-time virtual program or virtual school under the School Board's jurisdiction.
- 3. Enter into a memorandum of understanding with the Superintendent or director of another governing authority to secure a placement and provide for the transfer of the student to a school serving the grade level of the student, in accordance with statutory provisions.

If no seat or other placement is made available within thirty (30) calendar days of the receipt of the request by the Superintendent, the parent or legal guardian may request a hearing with the School Board, which shall be public or private at the option of the parent or legal guardian. The Board shall grant the hearing at the next scheduled meeting or within sixty (60) calendar days, whichever is sooner.

At the end of any school year, the parent or legal guardian may make a request to the School Board to transfer the student back to the original school. The School Board shall make a seat available at the original school that the student attended. No other schools shall qualify for transfer under this provision.

# TRAINING

The School Board shall provide a minimum of four (4) hours of training for all new employees who have contact with students and two (2) hours of training each subsequent year for all school employees who have contact with students, including bus drivers, with respect to bullying, in accordance with state statutory provisions.

## **RETALIATION**

Retaliation against any person who reports bullying, hazing, or similar behavior in good faith, who is thought to have reported such conduct, who files a complaint, or who otherwise participates in an investigation or inquiry concerning allegations of bullying, hazing, or similar behavior is prohibited conduct and subject to disciplinary action.

#### CHILD ABUSE

The provisions of this policy shall not be interpreted to conflict with or supersede the provisions requiring mandatory reporting pursuant to Louisiana Children's Code, Art. 609 and as enforced through La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §14:403.

Revised: August 2004 Revised: September 2010 Revised: January 2013 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: 20 USC 1232(g-i) (Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§14:40.3, 14:40.7, 14:403, 17:105, 17:105.1, 17:183, 17:416, 17:416.1, 17:416.13; La. Children's Code, Art. 609, 730, 731; <u>Davis v. Monroe</u> <u>County Board of Education</u>, 119 S. Ct. 1661 (1991); Board minutes, 8-3-04, 9-21-10, 1-15-13.

Mr. Simmons presented revisions, according to recent legislation, to policy FILE: H-3.6 Student Health Services.

# **RECOMMENDATION NO. 14**

**The Committee recommends** that the Board adopt, as presented, the following revised policy FILE: H-3.6 Student Health Services:

#### FILE: H-3.6

# **STUDENT HEALTH SERVICES**

# HEALTH CARE CENTERS

No student shall receive any type of service unless the required standardized school health forms, as outlined in *Louisiana Handbook* for *School Administrators*, Bulletin 741 have been signed and returned to school.

## HEARING AND VISION SCREENING

The School Board, during the first semester of the school year, or within thirty (30) days after the admission of students entering school late in the session, shall test the sight, including color screening for all first grade students, and hearing of students according to the schedule outlined by the American Academy of Pediatrics, except those students whose parents or guardians may object to such tests. Students may also be tested upon referral or requests of teachers and/or parents.

A record of such examination shall be kept and the administrators shall be required to follow up on the deficiencies within sixty (60) days, and shall notify, in writing, the parent or tutor of every pupil found to have any defect of sight or hearing. A written report of all such examinations shall be made to the state superintendent of education but shall not be made available to the public.

# EDUCATIONAL SCREENING AND EVALUATION

Every student in grades kindergarten through third shall be screened, at least once, for the existence of impediments to a successful school experience. No student shall be screened if his/her parent or guardian objects to such screening. Such impediments shall include:

- 1. dyslexia and related disorders;
- 2. attention deficit disorder; and
- 3. social and environmental factors that put a student "at risk."

Students in need of services and/or assistance shall have it provided to them. The screenings shall be done directly by elementary school counselors, pupil appraisal personnel, teachers, or any other professional employees of the School Board who have been appropriately trained, all of whom shall operate as advocates for the students identified as needing services or assistance. No screenings shall be done by persons who have not been trained to do such screenings.

The School Board shall ensure that educational screening activities, conducted by a committee at the school level, shall be completed before a student is referred for an individual evaluation through pupil appraisal services.

Students who are experiencing learning or adjustment difficulties in a regular program, but are not thought to be exceptional, may receive support services from pupil appraisal by a referral from a committee at the school level.

# Testing for Dyslexia

Upon the request of a parent, student, school nurse, classroom teacher, or other school personnel who has reason to believe that a student has a need to be tested for dyslexia and related disorders, that student shall be referred to the school building level committee for additional testing. The School Board shall provide remediation for students with dyslexia or related disorders in an appropriate education program.

For purposes of this policy, *dyslexia* shall be defined as difficulty with the alphabet, reading, reading comprehension, writing, and spelling in spite of adequate intelligence, exposure, and cultural opportunity.

#### OTHER HEALTH CONSIDERATIONS

The School Board acknowledges that only properly trained personnel shall make recommendations regarding certain health issues of students.

The School Board shall prohibit, in accordance with statutory provisions, any teacher employed by the School Board from recommending that a student be administered a psychotropic drug, specifying or identifying any specific mental health diagnosis for a student, or using a parent's or guardian's refusal to consent to the administration of a psychotropic drug to a student or to a psychiatric evaluation, screening, or examination of a student as grounds for prohibiting the student from attending any class or participating in any school-related activity or as the sole basis of accusations of child abuse or neglect against the parent or guardian.

The provisions of the above paragraph shall not be construed so as to prohibit any of the following:

- 1. An employee of the School Board who is a registered nurse, nurse practitioner, physician, or an appropriately credentialed mental health professional or teacher from recommending that a student be evaluated by an appropriate medical practitioner.
- 2. A teacher or other certified employee of the School Board from suggesting a student be assessed or evaluated by qualified employees of the School Board who perform such function.
- 3. A teacher assessing or evaluating any element of a student's academic readiness, performance, or achievement.
- 4. Any employee of the School Board from discussing any aspect of a student's behavior or academic progress with the student's parent or guardian or any other employee of the School Board.

# **Definitions**

*Psychotropic drug* shall mean a substance that is used in the diagnosis, treatment, or prevention of a disease or as a component of a medication and is intended to have an altering effect on perception, emotion, or behavior.

Teacher, for purposes of this section of the policy, shall mean any person employed by the School Board, who, as a condition of employment, is required to hold a valid teaching certificate issued by the Louisiana Department of Education and any person employed by the School Board as a substitute teacher.

#### ADMINISTERING CATHETERS

The School Board shall not require any employee other than a registered nurse or a licensed medical physician to catheterize any student until all of the following conditions have been met:

- 1. A registered nurse or licensed medical physician, employed by the School Board, has assessed the health status of the specific child in his/her specific educational setting. The registered nurse has determined that the procedure could be safely performed; the results are predictable and could be delegated to someone other than a registered nurse following documented training.
- 2. The registered nurse or licensed medical physician shall train at least two (2) employees to catheterize the specific child in his/her educational setting. The employees shall be given not less than eight (8) hours of training in the area of catheterization of students.
- 3. Following the training provided for in #2, no catheterization may be performed unless prescribed, in writing, by a licensed medical physician. The employee, other than the registered nurse or licensed medical physician, shall be required to complete, under the direct supervision of a registered nurse, a minimum of five (5) catheterizations. Upon one hundred percent successful completion of these catheterizations, the registered nurse or licensed medical physician and the trainee shall sign a standard form indicating that the trainee has attained the prescribed level of competency. A copy of this form shall be kept on file by the school system.
- 4. Individuals who are required to perform catheterizations and have been trained according to statutory provisions, may not decline to perform such service except as exempted by a licensed medical physician or a registered nurse. The reasons for such exemption shall be documented and certified by the licensed medical physician or a registered nurse within seventy-two (72) hours.
- 5. Any employee shall have the right to request that another School Board employee be present while catheterizing the student, to serve as a witness to the procedure. After making such a request, the employee shall not be required to catheterize a student without such a witness.

The provisions of this part of the policy shall be restricted to those students who have had intermittent catheterization prescribed as a treatment for urinary or neurologic dysfunction and not for continuous bladder drainage or to obtain urine specimens for diagnostic purposes. No employee shall be requested to catheterize any student for continuous bladder drainage or to obtain urine specimens for diagnostic purposes.

# PERFORMING NONCOMPLEX HEALTH PROCEDURES

The term noncomplex health procedure shall mean a task which is safely performed according to exact directions, with no need to alter the standard procedure, and which yields predictable results. It shall include the following:

- 1. Modified activities of daily living which require special instruction such as toileting/diapering, bowel/bladder training, toilet training, oral/dental hygiene, lifting/positioning, and oral feeding.
- 2. Health maintenance procedures such as postural drainage, percussion, tracheostomy suctioning, gastrostomy feeding and monitoring of these procedures.

3. Screenings such as growth, vital signs, hearing, vision, and scoliosis.

The School Board shall not require any employee other than a registered nurse, licensed medical physician, an appropriate licensed health professional, or, in the case of tracheostomy suctioning procedure, any hired and trained unlicensed nursing personnel or unlicensed assistive personnel as defined by the Louisiana State Board of Nursing, to perform noncomplex health procedures until all the following conditions have been met:

- 1. A registered nurse or a licensed medical physician and, when appropriate, another licensed health professional employed by the School Board, has assessed the health status of the specific child in his/her specific educational setting and has determined that, according to the legal standards of the respective licensed health professional performing such procedure, the procedure can be safely performed, the results are predictable, and the procedure can be delegated to someone other than a licensed health professional following documented training.
- 2. The registered nurse or the licensed medical physician and, when appropriate, another licensed health professional shall train, in his or her area of expertise, at least two (2) such employees to perform noncomplex health procedures on the specific child in his/her educational setting. The employees shall be given not less than four (4) hours of training in the area of noncomplex health procedures.
- 3. Following the training provided for in #2, no noncomplex health procedure, except screenings and activities of daily living such as toileting/diapering, toilet training, oral/dental hygiene, oral feeding, lifting, and positioning may be performed unless prescribed, in writing, by a physician licensed to practice medicine in the state of Louisiana or an adjacent state.

The employee, other than the registered nurse, licensed medical physician, or appropriate licensed health professional shall be required to complete, under the direct supervision or coordination of a registered nurse, a minimum of three (3) satisfactory demonstrations. Upon satisfactory completion of these noncomplex health procedures, the registered nurse, licensed medical physician, or appropriate licensed health professional and the trainee shall sign a standard form indicating that the trainee has attained the prescribed level of competency. A copy of this form shall be kept on file by the school system.

- 4. Individuals who are required to perform noncomplex health procedures and have been trained according to the provisions of state law and this policy may not decline to perform such service at the time indicated except as exempted for reasons as noted by the licensed medical physician or registered nurse. The reasons for such exemption shall be documented and certified by the licensed medical physician or a registered nurse within seventy-two (72) hours.
- 5. An employee shall have the right to request that another School Board employee be present while he/she is performing noncomplex health procedures for a student, to serve as a witness to the procedure. After making such a request, the employee shall not be

required to perform noncomplex health procedures without such a witness.

6. Employees who have volunteered to perform a tracheostomy suctioning procedure and who comply with the training and demonstration requirements outlined in #2 and #3 above may be allowed to perform such procedure on a child in an educational setting.

The School Board shall provide the necessary safety equipment, materials, and supplies to each employee who performs noncomplex health procedures. Such safety equipment, materials, and supplies shall include but not be limited to gloves, anti-bacterial soaps and wipes, paper towels and masks.

For the purposes of this section of the policy, *employee* means any appropriate member of the education staff and appropriate licensed health professional shall include a licensed practical nurse.

Revised: December 1997 Revised: June 1999 Revised: February 2004 Revised: September 2006 Revised: October 2008 Revised: August 2013 **Revised: October 2013** 

Ref: <u>Irving Independent School District v. Tatro</u>, 104 S. Ct. 33371 (1984); La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§14:403, 17:170, 17:392.1, 17:435, 17:436, 17:436.2, 17:2112, 40:31.3; <u>Health and Safety</u>, Bulletin 135, Louisiana Department of Education; Board minutes, 6-15-99, 2-17-04, 10-21-08, 08-20-13.

There being no further business to come before the **Education and Policy Committee**, the meeting adjourned at 5:35 P.M.

Respectfully submitted,

Richard Jackson, Chairman

Donald Duplantis, Vice-Chairman

Dr. Brenda Leroux Babin

DC

Motion of Dr. Babin, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: B-3 School Board Member Continuing Education.

Motion of Ms. Benoit, seconded by Mr. DeHart, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: D-3.3 Tax and Bond Elections and Sales.

Motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: E-1.1b Emergency/Crisis Management.

Motion of Mr. Badeaux, seconded by Mr. DeHart, unanimously carried, the

Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: E-1.2 Buildings and Grounds Security.

Motion of Mr. Duplantis, seconded by Dr. Babin, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: E-4 Child Nutrition Program Management.

Motion of Mr. DeHart, seconded by Ms. Benoit, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: F-9.14 Dismissal/Separation of Professional Personnel.

Motion of Dr. Babin, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: F-10.13 Dismissal/Separation Non-Instructional/Support Personnel.

Motion of Mr. Badeaux, seconded by Mr. DeHart, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, the following new Policy FILE: F-12.11 Miscellaneous Conditions of Employment:

> FILE: F-12.11 Cf: E-1, E-1.2, F-12.8

## MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

#### **INSPECTIONS AND SEARCHES**

It shall be the policy of the Terrebonne Parish School Board to reserve the right to inspect any School Board-owned property including, without limitations, computers, desks, lockers, and similar furnishings at any time, with or without notice, and that personal property an employee may bring onto School Board premises may be subject to inspection, including searches, in connection with the School Board's investigation of stolen property, hazardous materials, controlled substances, or the health and safety of employees and students.

As a condition of employment, each employee of the School Board shall acknowledge the School Board's right to conduct such inspections and investigations, and agree to any inspections made, and cooperate in all respects during any such proceedings.

# SECURITY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

It is the policy of the School Board to maintain strict control over entrance to the premises, access to work locations and records, computer information, and cash and other items of monetary value. Employees who are assigned keys, given special access, or assigned job responsibilities in connection with the safety, security, or confidentiality of such records, material, equipment, or items of monetary or business value shall be required to use sound judgment and discretion in performing their duties, and shall be held accountable for any wrong-doing or acts of indiscretion.

Confidential information obtained as a result of employment with the School Board shall not be used by an employee for the purpose of furthering any private interest, or as a means of making personal gains. Use or disclosure of such information may result in civil or criminal penalties, both for the individuals involved and for the School Board and subject the employee to disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

## ACCOMMODATIONS FOR BREAST-FEEDING MOTHERS

Each school under the jurisdiction of the School Board shall provide the following:

- 1. An appropriate, private room, other than a restroom, that may be used by an employee to express breast milk.
- 2. A reasonable amount of break time to accommodate an employee needing to express breast milk that, to the extent possible, shall run concurrently with the break time already provided to the employee, and that shall be available to the employee for up to one (1) year following the birth of her child.
- 3. Procedures for the employee to notify her supervisor or other appropriate personnel of her intent to make use of the accommodations offered pursuant to this policy and to schedule accordingly.

Any additional break time used by an employee to express breast milk shall be considered unpaid leave time.

New policy: October 2013

Ref: La. Rev. Stat. Ann. §17:81.

Motion of Mr. DeHart, seconded by Ms. Benoit, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: G-2.4c Education of Students with Exceptionalities.

Motion of Mr. Duplantis, seconded by Mr. DeHart, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: G-4 Co-Curricular and Extracurricular Activities.

Motion of Mr. Badeaux, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: G-4.1 Interscholastic Athletics.

Motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Mr. DeHart, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: G-13.2a Prayer in Schools.

Motion of Dr. Babin, seconded by Mr. Duplantis, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: H-3.3h Bullying and Hazing.

Motion of Mr. DeHart, seconded by Ms. Benoit, unanimously carried, the Board approved, as presented and outlined in the foregoing report, revised Policy FILE: H-3.6 Student Health Services.

The report of the Education and Policy Committee meeting was concluded, and President DeHart reassumed the Chair and presided for the remainder of the proceedings.

Motion of Mr. Bordelon, unanimously seconded, unanimously carried, the Board approved the following resolution declaring the month of November 2013 as Native American Indian Month in the Terrebonne Parish School System:

# **RESOLUTION**

**WHEREAS**, The Title VII Indian Education Program is a viable part of the Terrebonne Parish educational system, and

**WHEREAS**, Emphasis on the cultural heritage of Indian students is one of the four goals of the Title VII Indian Education Grant, and

WHEREAS, The month of November has been observed as "National American Indian Heritage Month" since 1990, and

**WHEREAS**, Instructional lessons on Indians and their heritage are traditionally taught to students during the month of November, and

**WHEREAS**, The Title VII Indian Education staff and the Title VII Indian Education Parent Committee are requesting that the month of November 2013 be recognized as Native American Indian Month in the Terrebonne Parish School System, now

**THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED**, That the Terrebonne Parish School Board does hereby declare the month of November 2013 as Native American Indian Month in the Terrebonne Parish School System, and

**BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED**, That copies of this resolution be forwarded to all Terrebonne Parish public schools and departments.

Superintendent Philip Martin announced, for informational purposes, the following personnel appointments and gave introductions:

Principal, Montegut Middle School – Kelly Dupre

Assistant Principal, Oaklawn Jr. High School – Saundra Dillard

At this time, Superintendent Martin presented the following personnel actions for the period of September 12, 2013, through October 9, 2013 [list of professional instructional and non-instructional/support personnel (appointments, resignations, and retirements – <u>Information Only</u>)]:

# New Employees – Professional Instructional Personnel

Melanie Stevens, Guidance Counselor, Certified, Elysian Fields Middle -Stephanie Trahan, Transferred, 09/12/13

Kelly Sundaram, 8<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Evergreen Junior High – Vacant Position, 10/08/13

Marcia Munoz-Sims, 8<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Houma Junior High – Gerald Colwart, Resigned, 09/19/13

Timothy Neal, Mild Moderate–Inclusion, Certified, Houma Junior High – Amanda Maise, Transferred, 09/23/13

Eric Ball, 6<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Mulberry Elementary - Walter May, Resigned, 09/30/13

Natalie Hebert, 5<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Oakshire Elementary – Vacant Position, 09/17/13

#### New Employees – Non-Instructional Personnel

Mercedes Gregory, Food Service Technician, Lacache Middle - Kathy Menser, on Leave, 09/13/13

Pamela Lyons, Food Service Technician, South Terrebonne High - Donna Martin, Transferred, 09/30/13

Lannette Wilson, Food Service Technician, South Terrebonne High – Karen Granger, Transferred, 09/30/13

Chad Bellanger, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Vacant Position, 10/03/13

Richelle Bonvillain, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Davis Stewart, Resigned, 10/08/13

Samuel Carter, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Emelda Williams, Transferred, 10/04/13

Dana James, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Valerie Hopkins, Transferred, 10/09/13

Ethel Swan, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Sharon Beard, Resigned, 10/07/13

Thomas Glynn, Driver/General Maintenance Laborer, Purchasing & Warehouse -Vacant Position, 10/03/13

Roch Triche, Driver/General Maintenance Laborer, Purchasing & Warehouse - Anthony Glorioso, Resigned, 10/07/13

# **Resignations – Professional Instructional Personnel**

Bennie Boudreaux, 7<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Evergreen Junior High -Resigned, 09/18/13

Amanda Cormier, 4<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Village East Middle - Resigned, 10/04/13

Raquel Dupre, 6<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Practitioner, Elysian Fields Middle - Resigned, 09/23/13

Leita Ledet, Mild Moderate–Inclusion, Certified, Coteau-Bayou Blue Elementary -Resigned, 09/16/13

Walter May, 6<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Mulberry Elementary - Resigned, 09/27/13

Zachary McNeely, 2<sup>nd</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Acadian Elementary -Resigned, 09/26/13

Tami Outhouse, 8<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Houma Junior High - Resigned, 09/20/13

Gervase Owens, 2<sup>nd</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Southdown Elementary -Resigned, 09/20/13 Anita Reddix-Augustin, 5<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Certified, Village East Middle -Resigned, 09/20/13

Tricia Rodrigue, Speech Therapist, Certified, Schriever Elementary - Resigned, 09/27/13

## **Resignations – Non-Instructional Personnel**

Brett Gilmore, Sp Ed Paraprofessional, School for Exceptional Children - Resigned, 09/27/13

Annie Hutchinson, Food Service Technician, Legion Park Elementary - Resigned, 09/13/13

Loretta Markcum, Bus Driver, Transportation Department - Resigned, 09/27/13

# **Retirements - Professional Instructional Personnel**

Karen Bourgeois, Federal Programs Supervisor, Federal Media/Resource Center -Service Retirement, 32.25 Years, 09/25/13

Dale Broussard, 7<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Houma Junior High - Service Retirement, 5.23 Years, 10/02/13

Bernett Coleman, Health & PE Teacher, Houma Junior High - Service Retirement, 35.33 Years, 09/27/13

Gaylynn Henry, 8<sup>th</sup> Grade Teacher, Evergreen Junior High - Service Retirement, 23.70 Years, 09/14/13

Penelope LeBlanc, Health Occupations Teacher, Terrebonne Career and Technical High - Service Retirement, 19.20 Years, 10/01/13

#### <u>Retirements - Non-Instructional/Support Personnel</u>

Dawn Bourg, Special Ed Non-Cat Pre-School Paraprofessional, Lisa Park Elementary - Service Retirement, 20.16 Years, 09/14/13

Theresa Knight, Pre-Kindergarten Paraprofessional, East Houma Elementary -Service Retirement, 29.00 Years, 09/26/13

Motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Mr. Badeaux, unanimously carried, the Board voted to go into executive session, at this time (7:20 P.M.), relative to a parent appeal for early readmission of Student #114773.

Motion of Mr. Bordelon, seconded by Mr. Thomas, unanimously carried, the Board reconvened in regular session with all members present (7:50 P.M.), with the exception of Ms. Benoit, who was absent.

Mr. Duplantis moved, seconded by Mr. Thomas, that the Board allow Student #114773 to return to school on January 6, 2014, subject to signing a contract.

A roll call vote having been called for on the motion, the vote thereon was as follows:

**YEAS:** Mr. Thomas, Mr. Harding, Mr. Bordelon, Mr. DeHart, Mr. Duplantis, and Mr. Badeaux

NAYS: Mr. Jackson

ABSTAIN: Dr. Babin

ABSENT: Ms. Benoit

President DeHart declared the foregoing motion carried.

Motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Mr. Duplantis, unanimously carried, the Board voted to go into executive session, at this time (7:55 P.M.), relative to a parent appeal for early readmission of Student #111631.

Motion of Mr. Jackson, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, unanimously carried, the Board reconvened in regular session with all members present (8:00 P.M.), with the exception of Ms. Benoit, who was absent.

Motion of Dr. Babin, seconded by Mr. Thomas, unanimously carried, the Board requested a correction to tonight's proceedings stating that the minutes should reflect that the prior executive session was actually held for Student #139829 rather than Student #111631 (Student #139829 entered the executive session ahead of Student #111631).

Mr. Stanwood Duval, Board Attorney, addressed the Board regarding the foregoing motion.

Mr. Duplantis moved, seconded by Mr. Thomas, that the Board allow Student #139829 to return to school immediately, subject to signing a contract.

A roll call vote having been called for on the motion, the vote thereon was as follows:

**YEAS:** Mr. Thomas, Mr. Harding, Mr. Jackson, Mr. Bordelon, Mr. DeHart, Mr. Duplantis, and Mr. Badeaux

NAYS: Dr. Babin

ABSENT: Ms. Benoit

President DeHart declared the foregoing motion carried.

Motion of Mr. Thomas, seconded by Dr. Babin, unanimously carried, the Board voted to go into executive session, at this time (8:05 P.M.), relative to a parent appeal for early readmission of Student #111631.

Motion of Mr. Badeaux, seconded by Mr. Thomas, unanimously carried, the Board reconvened in regular session with all members present (8:25 P.M.), with the exception of Ms. Benoit, who was absent.

Mr. Duplantis moved, seconded by Mr. Bordelon, that the Board allow Student #111631 to return to school in January 2014, subject to signing a contract, if needed.

A roll call vote having been called for on the motion, the vote thereon was as follows:

**YEAS:** Mr. Harding, Mr. Jackson, Dr. Babin, Mr. Bordelon, Mr. DeHart, Mr. Duplantis, and Mr. Badeaux

NAYS: Mr. Thomas

45

#### ABSENT: Ms. Benoit

President DeHart declared the foregoing motion carried.

At this time, President DeHart addressed the Board regarding "Consideration of Adoption of Resolution as it Relates to Expressing Appreciation for Legislative Action Providing Additional Funding for Public Education."

Motion of Mr. Jackson, unanimously seconded, unanimously carried, the Board adopted the following resolution as it relates to expressing appreciation for legislative action providing additional funding for public education:

## **RESOLUTION**

**WHEREAS**, for years there has been a provision in the Minimum Foundation Program (MFP) for a 2.75% increase in the per pupil amount of State funding for K-12 public education; and

**WHEREAS**, for several years prior to 2013-2014 K-12 public education in Louisiana has experienced no increase in State funding; and

**WHEREAS**, during those years of flat State funding, K-12 public education in Louisiana has endured cuts in federal funding; and

WHEREAS, throughout the years of flat State funding and reduced federal funding, the cost of providing K-12 public education has steadily increased, while the demands for performance expected from and unfunded mandates imposed on local public school systems have increased; and

WHEREAS, in the 2013 Regular Session, the Legislature rejected the 2013-2014 MFP formula adopted by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE), which formula continued the flat funding of public education in Louisiana; and

**WHEREAS**, in May 2013 the Louisiana Supreme Court ruled that the 2012-2013 MFP formula, which also had included flat funding for public education, was null and void; and

**WHEREAS**, the rejection of the proposed 2013-2014 MFP formula and the nullification of the 2012-2013 formula left in place the 2011-2012 MFP formula; and

**WHEREAS**, the 2011-2012 formula includes a provision for an increase of 2.75% in the Level 1 per pupil amount; and

WHEREAS, a 2.75% increase in the per pupil amount of \$3,855 would equal approximately \$69,000,000; and

**WHEREAS**, the State faced a significant projected budget deficit for the State's 2013-2014 fiscal year; and

**WHEREAS**, despite the projected budget deficit, the Legislature, by an overwhelming margin, adopted provisions for an additional \$69,000,000 from the State General Fund budget for Louisiana public schools; and

**WHEREAS**, the Legislature then, by an overwhelming margin, adopted HCR 188 memorializing BESE to include the 2.75% increase in the proposed

2014-2015 MFP formula and to propose a Level 1 per pupil funding amount of not less than \$3,961; now

**THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED**, that the Terrebonne Parish School Board commends and expresses its great appreciation to the Louisiana Legislature for providing the first meaningful increase in education funding in over half a decade; and

**BE IT RESOLVED**, that the Terrebonne Parish School Board commends and expresses its great appreciation to the Louisiana Legislature for memorializing BESE to continue the increased funding in the 2014-2015 MFP formula; now

**FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED**, that the Terrebonne Parish School Board expresses such commendation and gratitude specifically to Representative Lenar Whitney, Representative Joe Harrison, Representative Gordon Dove, Sr., Senator Norby Chabert, and Senator R. L. "Bret" Allain, II for their support of the additional \$69,000,000 in funding for K-12 public education; now

**FINALLY BE IT RESOLVED**, that a copy of this resolution be provided to each member of the Terrebonne Parish Legislative delegation and the Louisiana School Boards Association in expression of its deep gratitude.

Motion of Mr. Duplantis, seconded by Mr. Badeaux, unanimously carried, the Board voted to adjourn its meeting **(8:40 P.M.)**.

/s/ Philip Martin, Secretary

/s/ Roger Dale DeHart, President

RLB